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The purpose of Amendment 1 is to provide questions and answers to the BAA.

The due date for proposals is unchanged by this amendment.
MARSHALL SPACE FLIGHT CENTER
NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE ADMINISTRATION
Q1. In NASA PCAD times methane was called a “green propellant”. Is LOX/Methane thruster/RCS/engine qualified for this solicitation?

A1: No. Systems that require cryogenic conditioning, such as liquid oxygen/methane systems, are not solicited in this BAA    

Q2. Is the solicitation described in "Demonstrations of Propulsion Systems Utilizing Green Propellant Alternatives to Hydrazine" intended to refer only to liquid, chemical propulsion systems that are an alternative to a hydrazine-based system?

A2: Yes. This BAA solicits liquid monopropellant chemical propulsion alternatives to hydrazine. Non-chemical in-space propulsion systems such as electric propulsion systems and solar sails are not solicited in this BAA.

Q3. What is OCT’s interpretation of TRL 7 in terms of “in the actual operational environmental” and how is that different from TRL 6 “in a relevant environment”? Does it imply a flight demonstration mission for this BAA?

A3: For TRL 6, the hardware description column of the TRL table in Appendix A of the BAA states that the hardware must be "built and operated in a relevant environment to demonstrate operations under critical environmental conditions.”  For TRL 7, the table states that the hardware must be "built and operated in a relevant environment to demonstrate performance in the actual operational environment and platform: ground or airborne or space.”  Demonstration in the space environment is not required for TDM demonstrations. However, the technology demonstration must meet the requirement, outlined under the TDM BAA Section 3.0 Program Objectives, that the new capability may be infused into the critical path of future missions directly after the demonstration. The Technology Demonstration Mission Plan (Section 7.4.4 of the BAA) should address the optimal environment regime for the technology demonstration.

Q4. Is there a set percentage of reserve to be assumed in the cost estimate for this proposal? 

A4:  The reserve level should be proposed by the offeror for their particular demonstration. As outlined in the Risk Section of the BAA, the offeror should propose plans to use reserves as risk mitigation. The offeror should propose the level of reserves needed to ensure the successful accomplishment of their technology demonstration.

Q5. The key question is how NASA wants a Government Laboratory to respond to the solicitation.  Since Government Laboratories can offer unique facilities, expertise, and capabilities, is NASA interested in setting up a direct relationship before any proposals are received, or awards are made so we can offer those capabilities to anyone you choose to fund?  Alternately, would you prefer that a Government Laboratory simply participate as a team member on any proposals we deem acceptable?  Or is there another approach you prefer?
A5: The BAA states that Government agencies may bid on this effort.  However, it is up to the Government Laboratory to decide if they choose to submit a proposal of their own or participate as a team member on a proposal. 

Q6. Since Government agencies are eligible to respond, how do you

envision that arrangement to be executed?  I presume, for example, that a Government Laboratory would have a direct relationship with NASA for executing the Government Laboratory portion of the work.  Would that effort be executed as an MOA (or similar agreement) between NASA and Government Laboratory?  Presumably the contracted work would be executed via a standard contracting mechanism to the industry partner(s). How do you envision tying the Government Laboratory portion (programmatically) to the industry portion?

A6: Interagency Agreements will be used to fund work if a Government agency submits a proposal and that proposal is selected for award. It would be the responsibility of the selected Government agency to fund their Industry team member. If an Industry proposal that a government agency is a team member on is selected for award, it is the responsibility of the industry team member to fund the Government agency. 

Q7. This Government Laboratory routinely builds, launches, and operates space experiments and we are considering offering that as a low-cost opportunity to perform an on-orbit experiment of the hardware/software/CONOPS resulting from this BAA.

There are some constraints obviously (e.g. physical, interfaces, timelines, etc.), but that offer depends largely on how NASA prefers to interact with a Government Laboratory as a Government partner.  Does NASA prefer that this offer is made to all offerors via some larger agreement between NASA and the Government Laboratory, or does NASA prefer we simply include ourselves (and any corresponding flight opportunity) as a participant on proposals we select?

A7: The BAA states that Government agencies may bid on this effort. However, it is up to the Government Laboratory to decide if they choose to submit a proposal of their own or participate as a team member on a proposal. 

Q8. To be explicit, please confirm that Government salaries funded by Government Laboratory can be included in the 25% cost share requirement.  Those salaries will be derived from our existing rates for non-DOD programs.

A8:  Please note there is not a 25% cost share requirement for the TDM Program.  There is a requirement for Cost Contributions. 25% is not a requirement but is desired.  TDM BAA Section 3.0 Program Objectives states:  “Cost contribution of the total life cycle costs from a source other than NASA OCT ST is required for TDM projects. Contributions valued at 25% or more of the total life cycle costs are desired for TDM projects.”  If a Government Laboratory is selected, NASA will award an Interagency Agreement using OCT funding which will be used to pay for the OCT-funded portion of the effort that was proposed. The Government Laboratory can only count salaries toward cost contributions if those salaries are not paid using the OCT funding that was provided to the Government Laboratory.

Q9. A key technology this Government Laboratory has interest in, and what is likely to be proposed is the use of XX-XXXXX.  That propellant formulation and the performance characteristics are limited distribution due to FOUO and MCTL/ITAR constraints.  Is NASA going to require less stringent distribution limits (e.g. publicly releasable information) on any or all of the technology developed as a part of this BAA?

A9: To ensure compliance with export control regulations, space technologies having previous export controlled classifications will keep that same classification throughout the life cycle of the TDM demonstration as long as the information remains MCTL/ITAR protected. 

Q10. For what I could read from documentation NASA does not normally fund foreign research proposals or foreign research efforts that are part of U.S. research proposals and will not do so pursuant to this announcement. What exactly does this mean? If some foreign provider (company, research body, etc.) could have a solution or could show capacity to achieve it, NASA would not pay/fund the solution? In other words, can foreign providers submit proposals and, if chosen, they will receive resources to work on it directly?  If not, how can foreign entities participate in this call?

A10:  Foreign providers may submit proposals, but in accordance with the BAA and NASA FAR Supplement 1835.016-70. If selected, NASA’s policy is to conduct research with foreign entities on a cooperative, no-exchange-of–funds basis.
Q11. Can we propose technology that is being developed under a different NASA project/program?
A11:  Yes. However, cost contribution toward the total life cycle costs must be from a source other than NASA OCT Space Technology Programs as outlined in TDM BAA Section 3.0 Program Objectives, Cost Contributions.

Q12. Can hybrid propulsion technology be entertained for this BAA?
A12:  As outlined in the TDM BAA Topic Area description, demonstrations of a hydrazine alternative in a storable liquid monopropellant chemical propulsion implementation are desired.  Proposals may also include bipropellant implementations as an extension of the base monopropellant system.

Q13. What is NASA OCT definition of In-Space Primary propulsion?
A13:  The primary propulsion system is typically the largest propulsion system on a spacecraft and is used mainly for maneuvers such as orbit insertion or orbit change.

Q14. Can you characterize for us what size or type of vehicle that the propulsion systems will be used in?
A14:  No, it is expected that demonstrated technologies could be utilized in a variety of vehicle sizes and types.

Q15. Can you characterize for us the type of missions that this propulsion system is intended for?
A15:  No, it is expected that demonstrated technologies could be applied to a variety of mission types.

Q16. Are scalable versions of an existing high TRL number propulsion technology allowed?
A16: The Technology Demonstration Missions program advances technologies that are not yet at TRL 7 to that level through system-level demonstrations in relevant environments.  TDM BAA Section 1.0 Introduction states that the candidate technology must be at least TRL 5 at the time of proposal submission, and the proposed demonstration must raise the technology readiness to TRL 7 or higher, such that infusion into the critical path for future missions may occur immediately following successful demonstration. Scaled versions of existing high TRL technologies are within the scope of this solicitation if the scaled version is at least TRL 5 at the time of proposal submission and a final TRL of 7 or greater would be attained by the proposed demonstration.
Q17. Can you clarify what is the Rapid Demonstration objective?
A17:  The Rapid Demonstration objective is outlined in TDM BAA Section 3.0 Program Objectives: The life cycle shall be minimized. This includes limiting the time period from Authority to Proceed (ATP) through Flight Readiness Review (FRR) to three years.
Q18. Can you provide a definition on what is a Green Propellant?

A18: For purposes of this solicitation, the definition of green propellant is provided in the Topic Area section of this BAA, 1.0 Introduction.
Q19. In the cost proposal, those that choose an In-Space propulsion demonstration class will have to include the costs to orbit and operations in orbit (to mature to TRL 7) that will not be seen in the space craft classes.  Will they be judged in categories of In-space and space craft thus eliminating the cost differential bias?
A19:  No. There will be no separate categories. All proposals will be evaluated against the evaluation criteria described in the TDM BAA.
Q20. Any consideration towards providing individual, unique, and limited number of TRL 5 exceptions?  A very promising technology maybe not at a 5 but capable of reaching a 7 under the BAA program could still be advantageous to OCT.
A20:  Technology Readiness objectives of the TDM Program are outlined in Section 3.0 Program Objectives of the BAA. As that section outlines, the TRL shall be at least 5 at time of proposal submission for the TDM Program. As described in the TDM BAA, technology readiness and technology maturation plans will be evaluated. 

Q21. Can we piggyback on another NASA Project and can that count towards the 25% match as it pertains to Launch and Vehicle costs for in-space Demo? 

A21:  Yes. However, cost contribution toward the total life cycle costs must be from a source other than NASA OCT Space Technology Programs as outlined in TDM BAA Section 3.0 Program Objectives, Cost Contributions. 

Q22. How certain is funding for this particular BAA for FY12?  We had seen a similar question answered for the Edison BAA indicating that funding was secured for the Edison project

A22:  Funding is secured for this BAA.
Q23. Are multiple awards still being considered? 

A23:  Yes.  As stated in Section 11, Award Information; Paragraph 3, Multiple Awards: NASA anticipates making multiple awards. However, NASA reserves the right to select for award multiple, one, or none of the proposals. Part of a proposal may be selected for award. Awards based on this solicitation are contingent on appropriated funds. Award is contingent upon successful negotiation of an acceptable contract compliant with the BAA and FAR/NFS requirements; including an acceptable small business subcontracting plan (for large businesses) and submission of executed Representations and Certifications (to be requested after selection).

Q24. Are partial awards still possible even with a single primary award?

A24: Yes. As stated in Section 11, Award Information; Paragraph 3, Multiple Awards: NASA anticipates making multiple awards. However, NASA reserves the right to select for award multiple, one, or none of the proposals. Part of a proposal may be selected for award. Awards based on this solicitation are contingent on appropriated funds. Award is contingent upon successful negotiation of an acceptable contract compliant with the BAA and FAR/NFS requirements; including an acceptable small business subcontracting plan (for large businesses) and submission of executed Representations and Certifications (to be requested after selection).

Q25. Based on the TRL definitions in the BAA, is it safe to assume that a full up ground test (acoustic, vibe, thermal) of an integrated spacecraft / payload would be sufficient to meet the intent of TRL7 for purposes of this BAA, or would a spacecraft green propellant experiment need to fly in space to be compliant? 

A25:  As stated in Section 1.0 Introduction of the TDM BAA, the TDM Program is seeking to identify candidate space technologies that significantly benefit from demonstrations in relevant environments, such as ground, air, suborbital or orbital regimes. However, as Section 1.0 Introduction also describes, the proposed demonstration must raise the technology readiness of the new capability such that infusion into the critical path for future missions may occur immediately following successful demonstration. 

Q26. With the successful flight of the Prisma mission and demonstration of the SSC/ECAPS High Performance Green Propellant (HPGP) with 1-N thrusters by the Swedish National Space Board, one can arguably assert that this class of thruster and propellant type have already been demonstrated to a TRL-7. Is NASA interested in flying a similar class of mission demonstrating a plurality of 1-N thrusters achieving full RCS control of a small satellite or would NASA rather demonstrate a larger thruster class able to impart significantly higher impulse and delta-V (or demonstrate both RCS and delta-V)? If yes to the latter, which is most important in a cost constrained program? 
A26: As the TDM BAA states in the Topic Area description: Demonstrations of complete propulsion systems are desired. Demonstrations may include one or more thrust and/or power generation classes. It is up to the offeror as to the technology demonstration mission that is proposed. A demonstration that advances a green propellant technology that is TRL 5 or higher, at time of proposal submission, to a TRL of 7 or greater, after demonstration, would be within the scope of this solicitation.

Q27. From the solicitation Section 2.0 paragraph 7. “Types of Instruments That May Be Awarded: Procurement contract or other transaction (Inter-agency or Inter-agency only)”. Does this mean that “other transaction” may only be proposed by government primes, or is this instrument available to commercial primes as well?

A27:  Inter-agency or Intra-agency agreements are only available to Government primes. All other offerors may propose the type of contract that best fits their demonstration effort.  

Q28. Can the Fact Sheet use two sides of a page?

A28:  No

Q29. Does the $50M cap include civil service labor?

A29:  Yes

Q30. Since 7120-97 is required, please provide your desired alignment between 7120 phases (A-E) and the BAA baseline/options periods.  (From Table 2 we are assuming: Phase A/B = Base through PDR
Phase C = Option 1 through CDR, Phase D/E/F = Option 2 through end of demo)

A30:  TDM BAA Section 7.4.7 Statement of Work describes periods of performance. As that Section states, offerors may tailor, consistent with the intent of NID 7120-97, while maintaining a base and option period structure.

Q31. For all of the references to civil servant labor costs (i.e. the direction not to include them), please clarify whether this is intended for only NASA CS labor costs or for ALL CS labor costs (including OGA etc.).
    - Civil servant labor costs shall not be included on the NSPIRES cover page. 
    - Civil service labor estimates will be provided (in proposals) in FTE terms only

A31:  Civil servant labor cost shall not be included on the NSPIRES cover page and civil service labor estimates are to be proposed in FTE terms only.

Q32. The direction is to show WBS level 2, but Table 4 example shows to WBS 3.  Which one is correct? 

A32:  WBS level 2. 

Q33. The BAA directs that offerers should use standard 7120 WBS template. Table 4 is not consistent with 7120. We would prefer to use the standard WBS breakdown per 7120.

7120 Standard WBS Elements   
1.0 Management
2.0 Systems Engineering
3.0 S&MA
4.0 Science/Technology
5.0 Payload
6.0 Spacecraft
7.0 Mission Operations
8.0 Launch Services
9.0 Ground Systems
10.0 I&T
11.0 E&PO
OCT BAA Table 4 Differences
5.0 Demonstration Operations
6.0 Technology Demonstration
No 7.0 to 11.0

A33: The BAA states that Table 4 is a Generic Example. Offerors should use the standard WBS template in NID 7120.97.

Q34. Please confirm that the schedule & WBS dictionary are not included within the 25-page limit, and can be part of the supplemental information.
A34:  TDM BAA Section 7.5.6 Schedule requests that the offeror provide an integrated master schedule in this section of the proposal. The offeror should refer to Section 7.5.6 for further details. TDM BAA Section 7.6.6 Cost Breakdown by Work Breakdown Structure requests that the offeror provide a WBS dictionary in this section of the proposal. Neither schedule nor WBS dictionary are included in Table 8 under Required Supplemental Information.
Q35. The outline for the management section (Section 7.5 of the BAA) does not include a heading for Risk. Then it stipulates that 7.6 is Cost. Should Risk be included under the Management Approach or included later?

A35:  7.5.2 addresses Performing Risk Management and Section 7.7 addresses Risk Assessment.

Q36. How should CM&O be handled?  Should it be included in our cost estimate?  Shown separately?  Not shown at all?   

A36:  CM&O should not be included.
Q37. “Consistent with NASA's Governance of Labor Distribution (GOLD), a single labor rate ($/Full Time Equivalent (FTE)) will be applied across the NASA civil service workforce.”  How does this account for the wide variety of skills and labor rates used by NASA?  How does this map to eventual accurate funding for the appropriate work force to accomplish the demonstration objectives?

A37: TDM BAA Section 7.6 Cost Plan states that the offeror should contact Peter Tschen at 202-358-1139 or by email at shun.p.tschen@nasa.gov for the rates which will be used for evaluation. Any non-NASA Federal Government elements of proposals must follow their agency cost accounting standards for full cost. If no standards are in effect, the proposers must then follow the Managerial Cost Accounting Standards for the Federal Government as recommended by the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board.
Q38. Given the limited time allotted for this entire proposal effort, will any accommodations be made for an inability to secure the necessary documentation in this short time period:  “A signed, dated Letter of Commitment shall be provided from source(s) funding or in-kind contributions outside of NASA OCT ST.”  Interagency negotiations may not be fully accomplished within the time period.  Can a progress report, letter of intention, or other be included in lieu of a letter signed by the head of a large organization?  Would you accept a letter of intent on the proposal due date, with a follow-up letter of commitment some time later before final selection?  If you would consider slipping the due date, it would be preferable to know that now vs. later.

A38: No additional accommodations will be made outside the scope already described in this BAA and no due date slip is anticipated at this time. As Section 3.0 Program Objectives states: Cost contribution of the total life cycle costs from a source other than NASA OCT ST is required for TDM projects. A signed, dated Letter of Commitment shall be provided from source(s) funding or in-kind contributions outside NASA OCT Space Technology.
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